6

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Dale Edward Van Slambrook, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2016-002323
Docket No. 2012-CP-08-1869

Carolina Comfort Specialists, LLC.....Respondent.

v.

Linda McGee Weddle and
Derrick Loyal WeddleAppellants,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

RECEIVED

SEP 21 2017

SC Court of Appeals

David C. Dick
SC Bar No. 78053
Law Office of David C. Dick, LLC
211 King Street, Suite 104
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 641-7320

Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court erred in failing to dismiss the claim for a mechanic's lien for failure to comply with the statutory requirements.
- II. The trial court erred in law and in fact by finding Appellant Linda McGee Weddle was a party to the contract.
- III. The trial court erred in qualifying an expert after the conclusion of the trial.
- IV. The trial court erred by finding the failure to provide an extended warranty was not properly pled by the Appellants.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a dispute over Respondent's installation of a heating and air conditioning system at Appellant Linda McGee Weddle's rental property. Respondent filed a mechanic's lien in the RMC office for Berkeley County on May 2, 2012. (R. pp. 27-32). The Notice and Certificate of Mechanic's Lien was served on Appellant Derrik L. Weddle on May 2, 2012. (R. pp. 33-34).

Shortly thereafter on June 26, 2012, Respondent filed a Lis Pendens and Summons and Complaint alleging breach of contract, foreclosure of mechanic's lien, and implied contract/quantum meruit causes of action against the Appellants. (R. pp. 15-26). Appellants filed an Answer and Counterclaim on July 30, 2012. (R. pp. 35-40). Appellants raised numerous affirmative defenses such as breach of contract, estoppel, waiver, and unclean hands. *Id.* Further, Appellants raised several counterclaims against Respondent, including breach of contract, breach of implied warranty of workmanlike service, and negligence. *Id.*

A Consent Order of Reference was filed on April 5, 2013 referring the case to the Master-In-Equity Court for Berkeley County for a Final Hearing. (R. p. 14). This matter came to a Final Hearing, without a jury, on September 23, 2015. (R. pp. 51-188). The matter continued on two additional half-days, November 9, 2015, and April 4, 2016. (R. pp. 189-442 & 443-557). Testimony ended on April 4, 2016. *Id.*

On May 24, 2016, the trial court issued an order finding for Respondent on the causes of action for breach of contract and foreclosure of the mechanic's lien. (R. pp. 3-13). The trial court also found for Respondent on the Appellants' counterclaims, and awarded Respondent attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to the mechanics' lien statutes. *Id.*

Appellants received written notice of the entry of judgment on June 7, 2016. (R. p. 43). The Berkley County Courthouse was closed early on June 17, 2016 due to inclement weather. On June 20, 2016 Appellants filed their notice and motion pursuant to Rule 59 SCRPC. *Id.*

The trial court heard the Rule 59 motion on September 15, 2016, and denied the motion by order dated October 13, 2016. (R. pp. 1-2). Appellants received written notice of the entry of judgment on October 14, 2016.

On November 11, 2016, Appellants timely served and filed their notice of appeal of the Order granting judgment for Respondent Carolina Comfort Specialists, LLC and the Order denying Appellants' Rule 59 Motion. (R. pp. 678-693).

FACTS

Respondent is engaged in the business of repairing and installing heating and air conditioning systems ("HVAC"). (R. p. 20, ¶ 1). Respondent is owned and operated entirely by Clint A. Sires ("Sires"). (R. p. 60, line 21 – p. 61, line 24). Appellant Linda McGee Weddle ("Wife") owns rental property at 155 Foxborough Road, Goose Creek, SC 29445 (the "Property"). (R. p. 20, ¶ 2). Appellant Derrik L. Weddle ("Husband") is married to Appellant Linda McGee Weddle. (R. p. 199, lines 19-20). Wife owned the Property prior to the parties' marriage and has used it as a rental property since 1980. (R. p. 240, line 14 – p. 241, line 8).

On or about December 6, 2011, Sires came to the Property to inspect the HVAC system for possible replacement. (R. p. 248, line 12 – p. 249, line 25). Sires met with Husband and Wife to discuss the current HVAC system and ductwork. (R. p. 248, line 12 – p. 249, line 25; R. p. 201, line 13 – p. 202, line 4). Wife was present at this initial meeting,

but had no further interaction with Sires. (R. p. 248, line 12 – p. 249, line 25; R. p. 104, lines 16-20).

After the initial meeting, Husband had additional email correspondence with Sires regarding the HVAC system, unbeknownst to Wife. (R. pp. 174-178). As part of the negotiations between Husband and Respondent, Respondent agreed to provide an extended 10-year warranty on the HVAC system for an additional charge of \$800. (*Id.*; R. p. 111, lines 9-19; R. p. 228, lines 19-23).

From those discussions with Husband, a contract was developed by Sires and signed by Husband. (R. p. 179). Husband also forged Wife's name on the contract in the presence of Sires. (R. p. 89, lines 11-22; R. p. 205, lines 6-9). Sires testified that he was aware that Husband was signing Wife's name. *Id.* Husband testified that Sires told him to sign for Wife in order to obtain the warranty, despite Wife's lack of knowledge of any contract. (R. p. 205, line 25 – p. 206, line 23) While it is disputed why Husband signed Wife's name, it is uncontradicted that Husband did not have Wife's permission to sign the contract. (R. p. 205, line 25 – p. 206, line 23; R. p. 253, lines 20-25).

Sires designed and installed the HVAC system and ductwork on or about March 5, 2012. (R. p. 227, lines 16-25). Wife was out of town during the HVAC installation, and had no knowledge any contract had allegedly been formed or work was being performed on her property. (R. p. 251, line 9 – p. 253, line 25). Upon her return, Wife was furious to find a contract had been signed and work done to her property without her knowledge. *Id.* Additionally, Wife found substantial deficiencies in the HVAC work. (R. p. 255, line 24 – p. 265, line 16).

Wife immediately wrote Respondent a letter on March 8, 2012 making it clear that she had not agreed to any contract and was not responsible for the work. (R. p. 556). Further, on March 17, 2012, Wife sent Respondent another letter denying any agreement with Respondent and making it clear that Husband did not have authority to enter into any agreement on her behalf. (R. p. 557).

The deficiencies discovered by Wife included, incorrect HVAC size, incorrect duct location, improperly sealed duct boots, improperly insulated ducts, improperly located air handler, improperly located condenser stand, cutting of support beams, and generally poor workmanship. (R. p. 255, line 24 – p. 265, line 16). Husband requested that the deficiencies be corrected; however, Sires refused to do anything other than calk some large gaps in the duct work. (R. pp. 180-181; R. pp. 184-185; R. p. 76, lines 17-20).

On top of the poor workmanship detailed above, Respondent failed to install the properly sized HVAC unit. (R. p. 418, line 18 – p. 420, line 8; R. p. 460, lines 6-9). Respondent installed a 2.5 ton HVAC unit when a 3.0 ton HVAC unit was needed. *Id.* The need for a 3.0 ton system was confirmed by experts for the Appellants during trial. *Id.* Appellants presented expert evidence showing the HVAC was improperly sized and the duct system was improperly installed. *Id.* (R. p. 150, line 16 – p. 152, line 4).

Appellants refused to pay for the HVAC system as Wife, the owner of the Property, had never entered into any contract with the Respondent and because of the deficiencies in the installation. Respondent filed a mechanic's lien in the RMC office for Berkeley County on May 2, 2012. (R. pp. 27-32). The Notice and Certificate of Mechanic's Lien was served on Husband on May 2, 2012. (R. pp. 33-34). Respondent also attempted to serve Wife by

substitute service on Husband. *Id.* Service was never attempted on the tenant of the Property. *Id.*

Shortly thereafter on June 26, 2012, Respondent filed a Lis Pendens and Summons and Complaint alleging breach of contract, foreclosure of mechanic's lien, and implied contract/quantum meruit causes of action against the Appellants. (R. pp. 15-26). Appellants filed an Answer and Counterclaim on July 30, 2012. (R. pp. 35-40). Appellants raised numerous affirmative defenses such as breach of contract, estoppel, waiver, and unclean hands. *Id.* Further, Appellants raised several counterclaims against Respondent, including breach of contract, breach of implied warranty of workmanlike service, and negligence. *Id.*

Wife resides at 5883 Ryans Bluff Rd., North Charleston, SC 29418. (R. p. 268, lines 1-12). The Property in question is a rental and not the residence of Wife. (R. p. 240, lines 14-24). Wife never received any notice regarding the work being performed. (R. p. 271, line 25 – p. 272, line 8). Additionally, Wife was never personally served with any notice of mechanic's lien. *Id.* (R. pp. 33-34).

During the trial, Respondent called Mr. Gene Pardee. Mr. Pardee gave opinion testimony over the objection of the Appellants. (R. p. 122, line 19 – p. 124, line 11). However, Mr. Pardee was never offered as an expert or qualified as an expert during the trial. *Id.* It was only after trial, during the Rule 59 motion, that the trial court qualified Mr. Pardee as an expert. (R. p. 2).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The foreclosure of a mechanics' lien is an action at law. *Butler Contracting, Inc. v. Court Street, LLC*, 369 S.C. 121, 127, 631 S.E.2d 252, 256 (2006). In an action at law, tried without a jury, an appellate court will not disturb the trial court's findings of fact

unless they are wholly unsupported by the evidence or unless it clearly appears the findings are controlled by an error of law. *Id.* (citing *Townes Assocs. Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976)).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in failing to dismiss the claim for a mechanic's lien for failure to comply with the statutory requirements.

Because Wife, as owner of the Property, was never served with notice of the mechanic's lien, was never provided notice of the work being performed, and the Respondent claimed more than was due, the mechanic's lien should have been dissolved.

A. Appellant was never served with the notice of mechanic's lien.

Because the Respondent never properly served the notice of the mechanic's lien, the mechanic's lien must be dissolved. Additionally, Appellants should be granted their attorneys' fees and costs as the prevailing party.

In order to perfect a mechanic's lien against a property, the person claiming it must serve and record a certificate of lien within ninety days after he ceases to furnish labor or materials. *Shelley Constr. Co. v. Sea Garden Homes, Inc.*, 287 S.C. 24,27, 336 S.E.2d 488, 490 (Ct. App. 1985); S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-90 (2007). "As a mechanic's lien is purely statutory, the requirements of the statute must be strictly followed." *Muller v. Myrtle Beach Golf & Yacht Club*, 303 S.C. 137, 140, 399 S.E.2d 430, 432 (Ct. App. 1990), *overruled* on other grounds by *Myrtle Beach Hosp., Inc. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 341 S.C. 1, 532 S.E.2d 868 (2000)(emphasis added).

If the person claiming the mechanic's lien fails to properly perfect the lien, the lien must be dissolved. *Shelley Constr. Co.*, 287 S.C. at 27, 336 S.E.2d at 490; S.C. Code Ann.

§ 29-5-90 (2007). Section 29-5-90 of the South Carolina codes provides three express and clear methods to serve a notice of lien: (1) the claimant can serve the lien “upon the owner,” (2) in the event the owner cannot be found, the claimant can serve “the person in possession” of the property that the lien is being filed against, (3) “in the event neither the owner nor the person in possession can be located after diligent search, and this fact is verified by affidavit of the sheriff or his deputy, the lien may be preserved by filing the statement together with the affidavit.”

In this case, the Respondent attempted to serve the owner of the Property, Wife. There is no allegation that the Respondent served the person in possession of the Property, or obtained an affidavit of non-service from the Sherriff.

Responded attempted to serve Wife by serving her husband at their residence pursuant to SCRCP 4(d)(1). (R. p. 33-34; R. p. 579, lines 1-13). However, this type of service is ineffective under Section 29-5-90, and SCRCP 4(d)(1) deals only with the service of a summons and complaint. The respondent cannot ask this court to add additional methods of service under the statute. “[Courts] are not at liberty, under the guise of construction, to alter the plain language of [a] statute by adding words which the Legislature saw fit not to include.” *Shelley Constr. Co.*, 287 S.C. at 28, 336 S.E.2d at 491.

“A mechanic’s lien is purely statutory. Therefore, the requirements of the statute must be strictly followed.” *Butler Contracting, Inc.*, 369 S.C. at 126, 631 S.E.2d at 257. Respondent failed to serve the notice of lien pursuant to the requirements of Section 29-5-90. Because these requirements must be “strictly” followed, the mechanic’s lien was never perfected.

The trial court improperly relied on a response in the Appellants' answer to the complaint to find that they had admitted service of the lien. Paragraph 8 of the Respondents' complaint states:

That thereafter, the Plaintiff had the Notice and Mechanic's Lien served on the Defendants, Derick Loyal Weddle and Linda McGree [sic] Weddle on, as more particularly shown by the Affidavit of Service, which are attached hereto as Exhibit "D", and incorporated herein by express reference.

(R. p. 21, ¶ 8).

The Affidavits of Service attached to the complaint simply show service upon Husband, and attempted service upon Wife by way of her husband. (R. p. 33-34). Wife never admitted that she, as the owner of the Property, was ever personally served with the notice of lien or that the attempted service upon her was effective.

The interpretation of pleadings is a question of law for the Court, and the Court is free to review such questions in the same manner as the trial court. *Muller*, 303 S.C. at 141, 399 S.E.2d at 433. "Uncertain admissions are not binding on anyone." *Id.*

The trial court erred in finding that Wife had admitted that service upon her was effective. The allegation on the complaint is uncertain at best, and simply refers to the affidavits of service which were defective. This attempted service was not effective pursuant to the mechanics' lien statute, and thus did not perfect the lien.

Further, Wife testified at trial that prior to being served with the summons and complaint, she had no knowledge a lien had been filed on her property. (R. p. 271, line 25 – p. 272, line 8). Accordingly, the trial court erred in finding that Wife, as owner of the Property, had been properly served and the lien perfected. Thus, the mechanic's lien should be dissolved, and the award of attorneys' fees, costs, and interest reversed.

Wife should also be granted her attorneys' fees and costs as the new prevailing party. This Court in *Utilities Const. Co., Inc. v. Wilson*, upheld an award of attorneys' fees to a party who prevailed in dissolving a mechanic's lien for failure to properly serve the notice of lien, despite losing on the non-mechanic's lien causes of action. 468 S.E.2d 1, 321 S.C. 244 (S.C. App. 1996). "A fair interpretation of the text of the statute convinces us that it is the enforcement of the lien which confers the right to attorney fees, and not the joinder of an attempted enforcement with another non-statutory cause of action on which the lienor prevails." *Id.* at 247-8.

Because Wife, as owner of the Property, was never served with the notice of mechanic's lien, the cause of action for foreclosure of the mechanic's lien must be dismissed. Accordingly, the Respondent would not be entitled to any attorney's fees, costs, or interest as provided in the trial court's order, and Wife should be awarded her attorneys' fees and costs as the prevailing party.

B. Appellant Linda McGee Weddle never received notice of the work.

Wife was never provided notice of furnishing of labor or material by Respondent. Pursuant to the statute, the mechanic's lien must be dissolved.

As discussed above, in order to perfect a mechanic's lien, the lien must be served. "Moreover, if the person furnishing the labor or materials was employed by someone *other* than the owner (such as a contractor), for the lien to attach the person must meet the *additional* requirement of giving written notice to the owner of the furnishing of the labor or material. *Ferguson Fire & Fabrication, Inc. v. Preferred Fire Prot., L.L.C.*, 409 S.C. 331, 341, 762 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2014) (*citing Butler Contracting, Inc.*, 369 S.C. at 128, 631 S.E.2d at 256).

The Property is owned by Appellant Linda McGee Weddle, not her husband Derrik L. Weddle. (R. p. 6, ¶ 2). The contract with the Respondent was signed by Husband, not Wife. (R. p. 179). As discussed more fully below, Husband did not have express or apparent authority to enter into the contract with Respondent.

Accordingly, Respondent entered into a contract with someone other than the owner, and was required to provide notice of furnishing of labor or materials to Wife to perfect and enforce a mechanic's lien. S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-40 (2007). This notice of furnishing was never provided to Wife, and there is no evidence in the record that a notice of furnishing was ever provided. (R. p. 271, line 25 – p. 272, line 8).

Thus, Respondent failed to comply with the statutory requirements of Section 29-5-40 and the mechanic's lien should be dissolved, the award of attorneys' fees, costs, and interest reversed, and attorneys' fees and costs awarded to Wife as the prevailing party.

C. Respondent claimed more than he was statutorily allowed.

Respondent claimed more than he was rightfully due in the statement of account filed with the mechanic's lien. Accordingly, the lien must be dissolved.

As part of the requirements to file a perfect the mechanic's lien, the person claiming the lien must file and serve "a statement of a just and true account of the amount due him, with all just credits given" S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-90 (2007). Further, the mechanic's lien should be dissolved if the person filing the statement of account "willfully and knowingly claimed more than is his due." S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-100 (2007).

In this case, the Respondent filed a statement of account in the amount of Nine-Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$9,000). (R. p. 26). This amount is for the full contract price allegedly entered into by the Appellants. (R. p. 179). However, it is undisputed that Eight-

Hundred and 00/100 Dollars (\$800) of the contract price was for an extended warranty. (R. p. 174-178; R. p. 111, lines 9-19; R. p. 228, lines 19-23). As part of the contract, Respondent was required to purchase an extended 10-year warranty from the HVAC manufacturer, which Respondent charged the Appellants \$800. *Id.*

It is undisputed that Respondent never purchased the extended warranty or registered the HVAC with the manufacturer. *Id.* At trial, Sires testified:

- Q. Is it true you did not properly register the warranty on the system?
A. I did not register a piece of equipment I haven't been paid a dollar for. The warranty costs \$600 or 400, whatever it costs.
Q. It wasn't registered?
A. That's exactly correct.
Q. The warranty you quoted \$800; is that correct?
A. That's correct. There is mark-up in anything you do.

(R. p. 111, lines 9-19).

From the testimony, it is clear that Respondent knew he had failed to provide the warranty per the terms of the contract, yet still charged the Appellants for the warranty in the statement of account. A credit for the value of the warranty should have been provided in the statement of account.

This knowing and willful overstatement of the statement of account renders the statement of account defective, and perfection of the mechanic's lien ineffective. Accordingly, this Court should dissolve the mechanic's lien, reverse the award of attorneys' fees, costs, and interest, and award attorneys' fees and costs to Wife as the prevailing party.

II. The trial court erred in law and in fact by finding Appellant Linda McGee Weddle was a party to the contract.

The trial court incorrectly found that Husband had actual and apparent authority to act on behalf of his wife when entering into the contract with Respondent. Because the

evidence is clear that Wife never gave any actual authority or did anything to convey apparent authority, this Court should find she was not a party to the contract.

A. There is no evidence of any actual authority given by Appellant Linda McGee Weddle.

The trial court found, “Derrick Weddle was acting with the apparent if not express authority to bind Linda Weddle regarding the installation of an HVAC unit with the [Respondent].” (R. p. 9). However, there is no evidence to support the conclusion that Husband had actual or express authority to act on behalf of Wife.

“An agency relationship may be established by evidence of actual or apparent authority.” *Charleston, S.C. Registry for Golf & Tourism, Inc. v. Young Clement Rivers & Tisdale, LLP*, 359 S.C. 635, 642, 598 S.E.2d 717, 721 (Ct. App. 2004). Actual authority is expressly conferred upon the agent by the principal. *Id.* “Contract actions are actions at law. In actions at law tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings.” *Hofer v. St. Clair*, 381 S.E.2d 736, 739, 298 S.C. 503, 508 (1989).

There is no evidence that supports a finding of actual authority. Both Husband and Wife testified at length that Wife never expressly conferred any agency upon Husband. (R. p. 205, line 25 – p. 206, line 23; R. p. 253, lines 20-25). Husband never had actual authority to contract on behalf of Wife. There was no evidence presented to the contrary.

Husband testified:

- Q. Okay. Did your wife know that you were signing that?
A. No, she did not.
Q. Okay. All right. Did your wife authorize you to sign that contract?
A. No, she did not.
Q. Okay. And that contract was concerning your wife's property in Goose Creek. Correct?
A. Yes, sir.

- Q. Okay. Now, how did your wife's signature come about on that, on that contract?
- A. Well, Clint asked me to go ahead and sign my wife's name because of the fact there was a warranty -- for the 10-year warranty. And said he had to have both signatures on it to initiate the 10-year warranty.
- Q. Okay. And then, prior to signing your wife's name, did you call her?
- A. No, I did not.
- Q. Did she have any knowledge -- prior to you signing that, was there any discussions that, hey, we're going to have Carolina Comfort replace this system?
- A. No, we did not.

(R. p. 205, line 25 – p. 206, line 23).

Further, Wife testified:

- Q. Okay. Did you authorize your husband to sign your signature?
- A. No, I did not.
- Q. Okay. Did you have any intention of contracting with Carolina Comfort to replace the HVAC or ducting system in your house?
- A. Absolutely not. I wasn't using them. He has subcontractors, anyway.

(R. p. 253, line 23 – p. 254, line 5).

The only evidence in the record is that Wife never gave Husband the express authority to act on her behalf. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the finding of the lower court that Husband had actual authority to enter into the contract with Respondent.

B. Appellant Derrik Loyal Weddle did not have apparent authority to bind Appellant Linda McGee Weddle.

The trial court found that Husband had apparent authority to act on behalf of Wife when entering into the contract with Respondent. However, the trial court fails to elaborate on any facts that would give rise to such apparent authority. There is insufficient evidence in the record to support the trial court's finding that Husband had authority to bind Wife.

“The doctrine of apparent authority provides that the principal is bound by acts of his agent when he has placed the agent in such a position that a person of ordinary prudence, reasonably familiar with business usages and customs, is led to believe the agent has certain

authority and in turn deals with the agent based on that assumption.” *Muller*, 303 S.C. at 142, 399 S.E.2d at 433 (citing *Fernander v. Thigpen*, 278 S.C. 140, 293 S.E.2d 424 (1982); *Watkins v. Mobil Oil Corp.*, 291 S.C. 62, 352 S.E.2d 284 (Ct. App. 1986)).

“The elements which must be proven to establish apparent agency are: (1) that the purported principal consciously or impliedly represented another to be his agent; (2) that there was a reliance upon the representation; and (3) that there was a change of position to the relying party’s detriment.” *Graves v. Serbin Farms, Inc.*, 306 S.C. 60, 63, 409 S.E.2d 769, 771 (1991).

There is no evidence that Wife consciously or impliedly represented Husband as her agent. The record indicates that Wife only met with Respondent on one occasion for about 15 or 20 minutes. (R. p. 249, lines 5-17). Wife had no further contact with Respondent until she discovered that her husband had entered into a contract with Respondent and signed her name to a contract. (R. p. 205, line 6 – p. 206, line 23; R. p. 248, line 12 – p. 249, line 25; R. p. 104, lines 16-20).

Respondent presented no evidence at trial that Wife had done anything consciously or impliedly to indicate Husband was her agent. Respondent admitted that Wife did not sign the contract, and that Husband signed her name in front of the Respondent. (R. p. 89, lines 11-22; R. p. 205, lines 6-9). Most importantly, Sires testified that he did not know what agency relationship existed between Husband and Wife:

- Q. When you said entered into a contract, entered into a contract with Mr. Weddle; correct?
- A. I don’t know if he has power of attorney over her or what they have. I didn’t need – I didn’t have to have both names on there. He did that. I didn’t tell him to do that.

(R. p. 89, lines 16-21).

This statement by Sires makes it clear that none of the elements of apparent authority have been met. First, Sires admits he does not know what authority Husband has over Wife. Clearly Wife did not represent Husband as her agent if the Respondent is unsure of their agency relationship.

Second, Sires admits that he did not rely on any representations from Wife. He states that he didn't even need Wife's signature on the contract. Third, Sires admits that he did not change his position based on any alleged representations by Wife. Sires testified that he did not need Wife's signature on the contract, and thus he could not have changed his position based on the alleged apparent authority.

Because there is no evidence in the record to support the elements needed to prove apparent authority, this Court should reverse the finding of the trial court that Husband had the authority to contract on behalf of Wife, and vacate the judgment against Wife.

C. Appellant Linda McGee Weddle did not admit she entered into a contract with the Respondent in her answer.

The trial court relied on an admission in Wife's answer to the complaint to find that she was a party to the contract with Respondent. The trial court found, "[i]n addition, the Defendants admitted in their answer that they entered into an agreement with the Plaintiff for the Plaintiff to install a heating and air conditioning system in the property located at 155 Foxborough Drive, Goose Creek, S.C." (R. p. 1). The evidence is clear that Wife did not admit she was a party to the contract.

On or about, December 6, 2011, Husband and Wife met with Respondent to look at the existing HVAC system. (R. p. 248, line 12 – p. 249, line 25). Wife had no further contact with Respondent until March 8, 2012. (R. p. 556). On that day, Wife discovered that her husband had entered into a contract for the installation of an HVAC system, and

Respondent had installed the system while she was out of town. (R. p. 253, lines 2-22).

This was on or about the time Respondent finished installing the HVAC system.

Wife immediately wrote Respondent a letter on March 8, 2012 making it clear that she had not agreed to any contract and was not responsible for the work. (R. p. 556). From day one, Wife vehemently denied any involvement or knowledge of the contract with Respondent.

Further, on March 17, 2012, Wife sent Respondent another letter denying any agreement with Respondent and making it clear that her husband did not have authority to enter into any agreement on her behalf. (R. p. 557).

Paragraph 5 of Respondent's complaint states:

That heretofore about March 7, 2012, the Plaintiff entered into an agreement with the Defendants, whereby the Plaintiff agreed to install a heating and air conditioning system in the property located at 155 Foxborough Drive, Goose Creek, SC. Said property is owned by the Defendant, Linda McGree [sic] Weddle and is more particularly described on the attached Exhibit "A".

(R. p. 21, ¶ 5).

As part of her answer, the attorneys for Wife admitted this paragraph. However, Wife did not agree with this statement nor was she able to review the answer before it was submitted. (R. p. 589).

Regardless, the written evidence and testimony is clear the Wife immediately denied any contract with Respondent and has maintained that denial since she discovered the alleged contract. An ambiguous admission in an answer not prepared by Wife cannot undue all of the evidence denying the existence of the contract between Wife and Respondent.

The Appellants have never denied that there is a valid and binding contract between Husband and Respondent. But any inadvertent admittance that Wife was also bound by that contract cannot be the entire basis for finding she is responsible for that contract.

As discussed above, this Court is free to review interpretations of pleadings in the same manner as the trial court and uncertain admissions are not binding on anyone. *Muller*, 303 S.C. at 141, 399 S.E.2d at 433. Any admission that Wife was a party to the contract with Respondent was clearly an error and does not conform to the evidence.

Because Wife did not admit to a contract with Respondent, this Court should reverse the trial court's finding that Wife was not a party to the contract. Accordingly, any judgment rendered against Wife should be vacated.

III. The trial court erred in qualifying an expert after the conclusion of the trial.

The trial court relied on the testimony of a witness that was not qualified as an expert until after the conclusion of the trial. This retroactive qualification was inappropriate and severely prejudiced the Appellants. Accordingly, this Court should disqualify the witness as an expert and remand the case for a new trial.

The trial court's decision to admit expert testimony will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Myers*, 359 S.C. 40, 596 S.E.2d 488 (2004); see also *Jenkins v. E. L. Long Motor Lines, Inc.*, 233 S.C. 87, 94, 103 S.E.2d 523, 527 (1958) ("It was for the trial [c]ourt to say whether the inquiry was one upon which expert testimony was proper, and its ruling thereon will not be disturbed unless its [sic] appears that there has been an abuse of discretion.").

An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. *Fields v. Regional Medical Ctr.*

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