THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeal

The Honorable Dale Edward Van Slambrook
Berkeley County
Appellate Case Number 2016-002323

Case No.: 2012-CP-08-1869

Carolina Comfort Specialists, LLC..... Respondent,

v.

Linda McGee Weddle and Derrik Loyal Weddle.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Frank M. Cisa
Cisa & Dodds, LLP
858 Lowcountry Blvd., Suite 101
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 881-6530
fax:(843) 881-5433
E-mail: frank@cisadodds.com
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO DISMISS THE CLAIM FOR A MECHANIC'S LIEN FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS.

The Respondents contend that the Wife was never served with the notice of mechanic's lien. The Respondents' contention is not correct. As shown by the Affidavit of Service attached to the Complaint, the Wife was served with the mechanic's lien by delivering a copy to her Husband at their home located at 5883 Ryans Bluff Road, North Charleston, S.C. Substituted service is allowed pursuant to Rule 4(d)(1)SCRPC. The Husband was a responsible person living in the residence with his Wife. Although a case could not be found on point, in *Stovall Building Supplies, Inc. v. Mottet*, the Court of Appeals found that service of a mechanic's lien on a security guard at the entrance of the subdivision was not a responsible person living in the home. In this case, the Husband was a responsible person living in the residence with his Wife. *Stovall Building Supplies, Inc. v. Mottet*, 305 S.C. 28, 33; 406S.E.2d 176, p. 179.

In addition, Appellants admitted in their Answer the allegations contained in paragraph 8 of the Respondent's Complaint which state that the mechanic's lien was served on the Appellants (Complaint, R.p.21; Answer and Counterclaim, R.p.35).

"It is well settled that parties are judicially bound by their pleadings unless withdrawn, altered or stricken by amendment or otherwise. The allegations, statements, or admissions contained in a pleading are conclusive as against the pleader and a party cannot subsequently take a position contradictory of, or inconsistent with, his pleadings and the facts which are admitted by the pleadings are taken as true against the pleader for the purpose of the action." *Postal v.*

Mann, 308 S.C. 385, p.387; 418 S.E2d 322, p.323.

At the commencement of the trial, counsel for the Respondent pointed out to the Court that a number of the allegations by the Respondent were admitted in the Appellants' Answer, including that the mechanic's lien was properly served. Counsel for the Appellants responded by stating "I would probably think that my client is bound by the Answer that was previously filed." (R.p.56, L.11 to p.57, L.17.

B. THE RESPONDENT DID NOT CLAIM MORE THAN IT WAS
STATUTORILY ALLOWED.

The Respondent's failure to register the equipment with the manufacturer does not void its mechanic's lien. As found by the trial judge, the warranty claim was not adequately pled or explained during trial. There was no testimony at trial as to the scope of the warranty or any damages suffered by the Appellants relative to the warranty. The Appellants did not meet their burden of proof.

C. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT,
LINDA MCGEE WEDDLE, WAS A PARTY TO THE CONTRACT.

The Respondent alleged in paragraph 5 of its Complaint that the Plaintiff entered into an agreement with the Defendants, whereby the Plaintiff agreed to install a heating and air conditioning system at the property located at 155 Foxborough Road, Goose Creek, S.C. The Appellants in their Answer and Counterclaim admitted the allegations contained in paragraph 5 of the Plaintiff's Complaint. (Complaint, R.p.21; Answer and Counterclaim, R.p.35 The Appellants are bound by their pleadings.

D. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RELYING ON THE TESTIMONY OF

GENE PARDEE.

Gene Pardee was called as a witness by the Respondent. At the time he testified he had been selling residential heating and cooling systems for eighteen (18) years. He had been in the heating and air conditioning business for twenty plus years. Before he began selling HVAC systems he installed heating and air systems. (R.p.115, L.16 to p.116, L.21). Mr. Pardee was contacted by the Appellants to look at the HVAC system at the residence at 155 Foxborough Road to give a quote. (R.p.117, lines 6-23). Mr. Pardee testified that it was a very good looking install and that he did not see any problems with the system. (R.p.118, lines4 to L.21).

At the conclusion of Mr. Pardee's direct examination, Appellants counsel moved to strike Mr. Pardee's testimony as he was not qualified as an expert. The trial court held that there was not a contemporaneous objection and that he would give Mr. Pardee's testimony appropriate weight taking into consideration the testimony as to his experience in the field. (R.p.122, L.15 to p.124, L.11).

"In absence of a contemporaneous objection, a motion to strike may be denied." *Parr v. Gaines*, 309 S.C. 477, p.481;424 S.E.2d 515, p.518.

The Trial Judge gave Mr. Pardee's testimony the appropriate weight and considered the testimony as to his experience in the field of HVAC systems. Mr. Pardee had been involved in the heating and air conditioning business for twenty plus years. It was not error by the trial court to find that Mr. Pardee was an expert.

E. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY FINDING THE FAILURE TO PROVIDE AN EXTENDED WARRANTY WAS NOT PROPERLY PLED BY THE APPELLANTS.

The Appellants contend that they properly pled an allegation that the Respondent failed to provided an extended warranty in their breach of contract cause of action. The Appellants alleged, however, in their breach of contract cause of action that the Respondent failed to properly install the heating and air conditioning system and that it was incomplete. (Answer and Counterclaim, R.pp.36-37).

The trial judge ruled that the Appellants contention concerning the warranty was not adequately explained during the trial as to the existence or the scope of the warranty. (Order Denying Defendants Rule 59 motion, R.p.2). The Appellants did not offer any testimony as to any damages they sustained by the failure to supply the warranty.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing it is respectfully submitted that the trial courts findings are reasonably supported by the evidence and that the trial court's Order of Judgment should be affirmed.

CISA & DODDS, LLP



Frank M. Cisa
858 Lowcountry Blvd., Suite 101
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 881-6530
Fax: (843) 881-5433

This ^{20th} day of September, 2017
Mt. Pleasant, SC

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeal

The Honorable Dale Edward Van Slambrook
Berkeley County
Appellate Case Number 2016-002323

RECEIVED

SEP 25 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Case No.: 2012-CP-08-1869


Linda McGee Weddle and Derick Loyal

Weddle.....Appellants

Carolina Comfort Specialists, LLC.....Respondent